RECEIVED

Apr 16 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SHELLIE LAVETTE DAVIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000366

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARY H. JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in denying battered spouse classification despite finding a history of domestic abuse, in multiple formats, occurring on both sides of the marital relationship following appellant's conviction for the murder of her husband?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May of 2011, appellant Shellie Davis was indicted by a Lexington County grand jury on one count of murder of her husband Jermaine Davis. R. 1218-19. She proceeded to trial before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo and a jury from April 21 - 25, 2014. Aimee J. Zmroczek and M. Wade Downtin represented Ms. Davis, and C. Dayton Riddle, III and Shannon A. Davis appeared on behalf of the state. Ms. Zmroczek filed a written notice, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-170(E), which indicated her intent to offer evidence of battered spouse syndrome at trial.

Following the five-day trial, the jury found Shellie Davis guilty as indicted. R. 915, l. 19 – 916, l. 2. Sentencing was deferred to the following week. On April 30, 2014, Judge Russo convened a sentencing hearing. Judge Russo ultimately denied Ms. Zmroczek's request to convey "battered spouse" status upon Shellie Davis in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90 and sentenced appellant to thirty (30) years' incarceration. R. 1220. Judge Russo did not issue a written order of his findings. Ms. Zmroczek filed a post-trial motion to request a hearing to reconsider Judge Russo's finding regarding battered spouse syndrome on May 8, 2014. R. 1022. For unknown reasons, the Order denying this motion was not filed until February 7, 2018. R. 1023-24.

Following receipt of that order, a Notice of Appeal was filed with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on February 28, 2018. Appellant filed a petition with this Court on December 6, 2018, seeking an order remanding the case for reconstruction since a transcript of the April 30, 2014 hearing could not be obtained. This Court granted the petition, and the matter was remanded to the lower court to reconstruct the record.

Upon remand, Judge Walton J. McLeod, IV held that the record could not be reconstructed so as to allow appellate review. Appellant Davis then filed a motion before this Court to vacate

her sentence and remand for a new sentencing hearing. By written order filed January 14, 2022, this Court remanded the case to the lower court solely for a determination of appellant Davis's status as an abused spouse pursuant for potential early parole eligibility under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90 (2004 as amended). R. 1028-29.

On July 29 – 30, 2024, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, pursuant to the remand order. Robert McNair and Whitney Taylor appeared on behalf of the state, and Gary Johnson and Taylor Gilliam appeared on behalf of appellant Shellie Davis. R. 1030. Judge McLeod issued an Order denying classification under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90 (2004 as amended) dated January 24, 2025. R. 1209-17.

To bring the matter back before this Court, a new notice of appeal was filed with this Court on behalf of appellant Shellie Davis. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the morning of September 22, 2010, appellant Shellie Davis admitted she shot and killed her husband, Jermaine Davis at his apartment. R. 385, ll. 6 – 23. The state's theory and portrayal of Shellie Davis during trial was of a scorned wife who refused to accept that her husband was leaving. In the words of the state's star witness to this theory, Arletta Carr, Shellie Davis asserted that if she could not be with Jermaine, no one would. R. 222, l. 20 – 223, l. 22.

Shellie Davis testified in her own defense, relaying years of domestic violence of varying degrees at the hands of Jermaine Davis. On September 22, 2010, she traveled to Jermaine's temporary residence, an apartment away from the family home, with the intent to end her own life. R. 692, ll. 3 – 22.¹ Shellie Davis told the jury she fired the weapon in fear of Jermaine Davis due to the level of his anger and their prior history. R. 694, l. 18 – 695, l. 25. Not sure that the single shot had actually hit Jermaine, Shellie Davis fled the apartment. R. 696, ll. 1 – 19. She was suicidal and quit her job and drove to Charlotte to visit a lifelong friend, Naeka Collins. R. 698, ll. 2 – 15; 703, ll. 2 – 22. Once there, Shellie Davis walked away from the home and shot herself in the head with the same handgun that killed Jermaine. R. 778, l. 4 – 779, l. 22.

As noted below, witnesses painted a picture of a difficult marriage with significant financial hardships, including a pending foreclosure of the family home, when Jermaine Davis moved out. R. 312, l. 20 – 313, l. 4. Shellie Davis and Jermaine Davis were married in 1997 and raised five children (the oldest child was not Jermaine's biological son). R. 664, l. 25 – 665, l. 5. While originally living in Maryland, Jermaine moved the family to South Carolina. R. 668, l. 24 –

¹ Jermaine Davis moved into the apartment a few months before the fatal shooting, just before his sister Michone Mansfield moved to the Columbia area and moved into the family home with Shellie Davis, the Davis children, Mansfield's husband, and their four children. R. 307, l. 25 – 308, l. 9.

670, 1. 8. The marriage was spotted with physical violence, though that violence did occur less often in South Carolina due to Jermaine's job and working hours. R. 668, 1. 9 – 671, 1. 21.

The issue presented to this Court centers on the impact of this violence on Shellie Davis's sentence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown. State v. Laney, 367 S.C. 639, 643, 627 S.E.2d 726, 729 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012) (*quoting* State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477–78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011)). When a matter presents a mixed question of law and fact, this Court will “review the trial court’s factual findings for any evidentiary support, but the ultimate legal conclusion . . . is a question of law subject to *de novo* review.” State v. Frasier, 437 S.C. 625, 633–34, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying battered spouse classification despite finding a history of domestic abuse, in multiple formats, occurring on both sides of the marital relationship.

A. The law governing battered spouse determinations.

In 1992, the South Carolina Supreme Court offered an abbreviated overview of battered woman's syndrome:

A battered woman is a woman who repeatedly is subjected to any forceful physical or psychological behavior by a man in order to coerce her to do something he wants her to do without any concern for her rights. The battered woman's syndrome is identified by a series of common characteristics that appear in women who are abused for an extended period of time by the dominant male figure in their lives. These characteristics include fear, hyper-suggestibility, isolation, guilt, and emotional dependency, which culminate in a woman's belief that she should not and cannot escape her batterer. A battered woman believes that her batterer is capable of killing her.

The battered woman's syndrome results from the cyclical nature of the relationship between the battered woman and the man who abuses her. In the first phase of the cycle, tension increases between the woman and her partner, and minor abuse occurs. In the second phase, the violence escalates and the battering takes place. In the third phase, which occurs after the battering, there may be a temporary lull in the physical abuse inflicted on the woman, at which time the woman forgives the batterer. During the third phase, the batterer may feel contrite and loving, and may promise the woman that the violence will never happen again. As the relationship progresses, however, the tension building before battering becomes more common, and the batterer's feelings of loving contrition decline.

A battered woman suffers from 'learned helplessness' as the 'repeated batterings, like electrical shocks, diminish the woman's motivation to respond.' This stems from the battered woman's belief that her batterer is more powerful than he actually is, and her fear of retaliation if she summons help. As a result, she ceases trying to escape even when the opportunity to do so is present.

Robinson v. State, 308 S.C. 74, 76-77, 417 S.E.2d 88, 90 (1992) (internal citations omitted).

To address this fact, our General Assembly enacted legislation providing an opportunity for a battered spouse to seek “early parole eligibility to long term victims of repeated abuse at the hands of a household member.” State v. Hawes, 411 S.C. 188, 190 n.2, 767 S.E.2d 708, 708 n.2 (2015). Section 16-25-90² provides:

[A]n inmate who was convicted of ... an offense against a household member is eligible for parole after serving one-fourth of his prison term when the inmate at the time he pled guilty to ... an offense against the household member ... presented credible evidence of a history of criminal domestic violence, as provided in [s]ection 16-25-20, suffered at the hands of the household member.

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20: “[i]t is unlawful to: (1) cause physical harm or injury to a person’s own household member, (2) offer or attempt to cause physical harm or injury to a person’s own household member with apparent present ability under circumstances reasonably creating fear of imminent peril.”³ “Household member” includes “a spouse;” and “persons who have a child in common.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-10.

The history of criminal domestic violence must be proven by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Grooms, 343 S.C. 248, 254, 540 S.E.2d 99, 102 (2000). “[T]he defendant must persuade the judge by presenting proof which leads the trier of fact to find that the existence of the contested fact is more probable than its nonexistence. Id. at 253-54, 540 S.E.2d at 101-02 (citing McCormick on Evidence § 339 (5th ed. 1999)). “The circuit court must make specific findings in ruling on parole eligibility or ineligibility under § 16-25-90.” State v. Blackwell-Selim, 392 S.C. 1, 707 S.E.2d 426 (2011).

² S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90

³ Domestic violence in the second degree and domestic violence in the third degree can be enhanced if the offense is committed in the presence of a minor or if the offense is committed against a pregnant person. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20.

B. The lower court's findings.

In its order, the lower court discussed the evidence presented during the two-day evidentiary hearing as well as the evidence from the original trial. R. 1209-17. The lower court found that the evidence presented established a "tumultuous" marriage with "scattered" domestic abuse, on both sides. R. 1217. As discussed herein, the record supports the lower court's factual finding of domestic abuse and a tumultuous marriage. However, the trial court's holding that "scattered" domestic abuse over a long period of time was an insufficient to support qualification under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90 is an error of law requiring reversal.

C. The evidence of domestic abuse.

The lower court's finding of fact that the Davis marriage was "tumultuous" with events of domestic abuse on both sides is well supported in the Record.

During the remanded evidentiary hearing on this issue, Ms. Wanda Hundley (appellant's sister) testified virtually from Maryland. R. 1109, l. 15 – 1110, l. 3. Ms. Hundley related an incident in Maryland involving Mr. Davis's physical violence towards Shellie Davis:

He had her against the wall with his hand around her neck, and she was pregnant at the time. And I said take your hands from around my sister's neck. And at the time in her room, as I can remember, was an ironing board, and the iron was sitting on top of the ironing board. And I said you should take that iron and hit him with it, because then I told Jermaine you have no business putting your hands on my sister. You had her around her neck. She's pregnant.

R. 1111, ll. 10 – 17.

Ms. Hundley related hearing violent interactions over the phone after appellant Shellie Davis left Maryland with Jermaine Davis and moved to South Carolina.

And, you know, we were just talking and just talking. So she told me – you know, she was just talking. So I heard Jermaine come in the house, and she told me, you know, he you know, Jermaine is here. So, oh, okay. So we're just talking. So I guess he – I don't

know what was said. So she was like, let me – hold on. So I said, okay, hold on, on the phone.

So I'm listening. I hear this scream. Then I heard some glass shattering. And all I can remember was Shellie, Shellie, I kept calling her name, Shellie, and pick up the phone, pick up the phone. So she came to the phone and she was let me call you back, let me call you back. She was – and I said what happened? What's wrong? Because I heard the glass. And she, like, dropped the phone. So I was – I was just – again, I was shocked because I was in shock because I didn't know what happened to my sister. I don't know, you know, with the glass. I heard her scream, and I just heard the glass shatter. So I was shocked and I was trying to at the time call her back. I couldn't get through. Nobody answered the phone.

R. 1113, l. 12 – 1114, l. 6.

Ms. Hundley also personally observed Shellie Davis with significant bruises on her leg and back just prior to the crime at the funeral of her grandmother in Maryland. R. 1118, l. 4 – 24. These bruises were seen by several witnesses who also testified during the original trial, noted *infra*.

Ms. Deirdre Angela Davis-Washington testified in person during the original trial and at the evidentiary hearing on this issue. She indicated a long-standing friendship with appellant Shellie Davis from their time living in Maryland. That friendship continued from a distance when the Davis family moved to South Carolina. R. 1121, ll. 14 – 22. While Ms. Washington did not observe the direct physical violence as seen by Ms. Hundley, she noted the abusive nature of the Davis marriage:

Abusive, as in if we're talking about physical abuse, I did not observe him physically abusing her directly, but if we're talking about emotional abuse or, you know, mental abuse, then, yes, I definitely have observed that in our relations where I've said to myself, you know, that, okay, that's not necessarily right, but I have observed that directly.

R. 1124, ll. 11 – 17. She noted Jermaine Davis was “controlling” and “manipulative” and that whatever “Jermaine said is what Shellie believed. And even if it was outlandish, he still -- you know, she still believed that.” R. 1124, ll. 19 – 22.

This controlling behavior directly impacted Shellie Davis’s personality:

Q. And did you see a big change in Shellie Davis's personality when they left Maryland and moved to South Carolina?

A: Oh, I saw the change in her personality before they left Maryland to go to South Carolina. Absolutely.

Q: What type of changes did you observe in her?

A: She was definitely -- I felt like she had become timid. I felt like she was almost, like, childlike, where she then became this personality where she had to get permission to do certain things. And I understand the concept of being married myself, and so I understand the concept of talking to your mate, you know, about something that you're going to do, but it just felt like she needed to have permission in order to be able to do certain things. It just -- you know, it wasn't that free spirited, you know, personality anymore. It just seems like, you know, again, that she was a little timid. It had become that way.

R. 1125, ll. 6 – 23.⁴ This control extended to Jermaine Davis putting Shellie Davis on a curfew and keeping tabs on her when she was outside his presence. R. 1126, l. 2 – 1127, l. 7.

Ms. Washington also witnessed bruising and the physical toll the marriage had on Shellie Davis:

She was sitting down and her pants leg was up, and I looked at the back of her leg, and the back of her leg looked like it was like flesh exposed the bruise was so bad on the back of her leg.

⁴ Both Dr. Whitney Danso and Dr. Catherine Ross emphasized the control dynamic and the importance of having power to the abusive domestic partner, discussed *infra*. This is mirrored in the behavior of Jermaine Davis in his efforts to control and manipulate appellant Shellie Davis. Both Dr. Danso and Dr. Ross also indicated the way abuse dynamics would alter and change the personality and behavior of victims of domestic abuse, as reflected in the changes noted in Shellie Davis’s personality by her friends and family.

And I'm like, what is and I asked her. I said what is that? What happened? And so she proceeded to tell me that the two of them had begun to fight. She mentioned to me that she, you know, was thrown on the bed and that -- and I'm like, Shellie, this is unacceptable.

R. 1129, ll. 3 – 12.

Ms. From Lynesha Howard (appellant's niece who also resides in Maryland) testified virtually over WebEx. R. 1179, ll. 10 – 22. Ms. Howard, as a young child in Maryland, witnessed two separate instances of physical abuse inflicted on appellant Shellie Davis by Jermaine Davis that stuck with her for years.

So as soon as we open up the pizza, Jermaine walks through the -- the front the front door and look at the pizza, and he gets mad. So he proceeds to go back to the bedroom. Shellie then followed -- follows him back to -- to the bedroom. I get up to go wash -- to go wash my hands, you know, before I eat my pizza. On my way to the bathroom, you can see into their bedroom. I saw Jermaine have Shellie jacked up by -- by the collar. And I stood there in - - in shock and -- and, you know, I finally said, is everything okay, and once he noticed me, he -- he let her -- he let her go. Then Shellie told --told me everything -- you know, everything's okay. Everything's fine.

R. 1180, ll. 10 – 22.

The second one, like I said, she always got me and my brother. We did family stuff with -- you know, with her children. So she took us to the beach. The closest beach to us was Sandy Point at that -- at that particular time. So it was, like, an hour away. We finally get -- get to the beach and we're playing. We got our buckets and we got the -- the the little toys to play with making sand castles. So Jermaine has laid out his towel and stuff. He's laying -- he's laying down flat on his back, and we're --we're, like, close by him playing, flicking sand. So when I was flicking the sand, it was an accident. I accident accidentally got sand all over him, and he gets -- you know, gets upset. And I remember Shellie saying, you know, Jermaine, it's just an ace didn't mean you know, it's an accident. She didn't -- she mean to. So she -- when she went over closer to -- to him, he had grabbed -- like, grabbed her by -- by the neck and then, again, once he turned his head and saw that I was looking, he -- he let her go.

R. 1181, ll. 3 – 21.

Dr. Catherine Ross was qualified as an expert in social work and intimate partner violence.

R. 1040, ll. 4 – 23. Dr. Ross testified about the general nature of an abusive domestic partner and its “private” aspect:

There is a private and a public image that abusers present of themselves. They're very insecure and -- but they display behaviors which is very private that the public doesn't see. So women refer to it as Dr. Jekyll and Mr. Hyde.

So the private side, demeaning, berating, a lot of psychological manipulation, gaslighting. They view the women and children, if there are children involved, as property. They're always blaming the woman for anything that goes wrong in the relationship. They use sex as an act of aggression. For some examples of that, they don't feel that their violent behavior should have any negative consequences.

The public image, the nicest guy in the world, would do anything for anyone else. So there's two different personas, and the abuser tries very, very hard to keep that private image private and maintain power and control because intimate partner violence or domestic violence is about power and control.

R. 1041, ll. 4 – 21.

Dr. Ross noted the importance of isolating the abused partner from other support. R. 1043, l. 17 – 1044, l. 8. Dr. Ross noted the impact of strangulation as a key indicator of the abuse dynamic. R. 1045, ll. 6 – 12. This cycle of violence leads to physiological and psychiatric illnesses. R. 1045, l. 25 – 1046, l. 5. Dr. Ross also noted the attachment the abused victim has to their abuser: “Again, let me go back to the traumatic bonding where I know it sounds strange to someone who's looking from the outside, but because of the traumatic bonding, the abuser and the victim almost make a pact with one another and they claim ownership of each other.” R. 1050, ll. 19 – 24. In addition, victims of domestic partner violence will minimize the traumatic aspects of the relationship:

So if you're thinking about post-trauma, she's constantly re-experiencing the trauma. So everything is seen as a threat at that point. She's trying to avoid as much as possible. So the avoidance comes. She'll minimize what happened in her head. She's got to rationalize why it's necessary for her to remain.

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