RECEIVED

Apr 02 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
The Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000366

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Shellie L. Davis,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DON J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ZACHARY W. JONES
S.C. Bar No. 104174
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

SAMUEL R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 East Main Street, Suite 309

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly found Appellant failed to present sufficient credible evidence to satisfy her burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that she suffered a history of criminal domestic violence at the hands of the victim.

Following her 2014 conviction of murder for the killing of her estranged husband, Jermaine Davis (“Victim”), Appellant Shellie Davis sought early parole eligibility under S.C. Code Ann. section 16-25-90:

[A]n inmate who was convicted of . . . an offense against a household member is eligible for parole after serving one-fourth of his prison term when the inmate . . . presented credible evidence of a history of criminal domestic violence, as provided in Section 16-25-20, suffered at the hands of the household member.

Section 16-25-20 provides, “(A) It is unlawful to: (1) cause physical harm or injury to a person's own household member; or (2) offer or attempt to cause physical harm or injury to a person's own household member with apparent present ability under circumstances reasonably creating fear of imminent peril.” A “household member” is defined in section 16-25-10(3) as “(a) a spouse; (b) a former spouse; (c) persons who have a child in common; or (d) a male and female who are cohabiting or formerly have cohabited.” There is no dispute that Appellant and Victim were “household members” as that term is defined in section 16-25-10(3).

On January 24, 2025,¹ the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, issued an order denying Appellant’s request for early parole eligibility. The order summarized the evidence and arguments of counsel presented at the July 29–30, 2024, evidentiary hearing. The order also reflected that Judge McLeod considered the transcript and exhibits from Appellant’s trial, particularly noting

¹ The lengthy procedural history of this issue is satisfactorily set forth in Appellant’s “Statement of the Case.” (App.Br.pp.2–3).

Appellant's personal journals. Judge McLeod found Appellant's journal entries "provide unique insight" and noted that, while the journals include a detailed account of Appellant's troubled relationship with Victim, they do not contain "any descriptive accounts of physical abuse."

Ultimately, Judge McLeod found as follows:

The Court is of the opinion that this was a tumultuous relationship with scattered instances of domestic abuse, in multiple formats, occurring on both sides of the relationship. However, in looking at the totality of the evidence, this court finds that [Appellant] has not presented sufficient credible evidence to meet her burden to establish a history of criminal domestic violence

(R. pp.1209-1217).

Appellant acknowledges that "the record supports the lower court's factual finding of domestic abuse and a tumultuous marriage." (App.Br.p.9). However, Appellant argues "the trial court's holding that 'scattered' domestic abuse over a long period of time was . . . insufficient to support qualification under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90 is an error of law requiring reversal." (App.Br.p.9).

Appellant claims the circuit court "seemed to focus on the fact that the incidents described by the fact witnesses during the remand hearing all occurred years before the shooting death of [Victim]." (App.Br.p.21). However, the circuit court never purported to discount those incidents solely because of their age. Nevertheless, Appellant criticizes the circuit court for ignoring the "guidance" of *State v. Hawes*, 411 S.C. 188, 767 S.E.2d 707 (2015). According to Appellant, *Hawes* stands for the proposition that "a 'decade-long tumultuous relationship, which included instances of mutual combat[,] did not preclude a finding under the statute." (App.Br.p.21) (quoting *Hawes*, 411 S.C. at 190, 767 S.E.2d at 708).

Appellant's reliance on *Hawes* is bizarre. Nobody in this case (or in *Hawes*, for that matter) ever claimed that "a decade-long tumultuous relationship [including] instances of mutual combat"

somehow *precludes* a finding of early parole eligibility under the statute. Rather, the issue is whether the existence of a “tumultuous relationship with scattered incidents of domestic abuse . . . on both sides” *compels* such a finding. Appellant argues that it does; *Hawes*, however, clearly holds that it does not. *See Hawes*, 411 S.C. at 190, 767 S.E.2d at 708 (holding the trial court erred in “conclud[ing] that it was ‘compelled’ to grant Hawes early parole eligibility” based solely on evidence that Hawes and his wife had a tumultuous relationship marked by violence on both sides). *Hawes* emphasizes that “the trial court must exercise discretion,” and that this exercise of discretion is not constrained or limited by the terms of the statute. *Id.* at 191, 767 S.E.2d at 708. In *Hawes*, although the trial court expressly found that Hawes had “proven himself to be the recipient of a history of domestic violence” at the hands of his wife, the Supreme Court rejected the trial court’s conclusion that “[t]hat fact alone . . . mandated early parole eligibility for Hawes.” *Id.* Far from supporting Appellant’s position, therefore, the holding of *Hawes* clearly refutes Appellant’s argument that the circuit court in this case was somehow compelled to grant early parole eligibility merely because it acknowledged “scattered incidents of domestic abuse . . . on both sides.”

Furthermore, contrary to Appellant’s claim that the circuit court improperly “seemed to focus on” the age of the alleged incidents of abuse, the evidence that the circuit court “seemed to focus on” most intensely was Appellant’s journal. The circuit court explicitly singled out the journal entries as giving “unique insight” into the nature of the relationship. The circuit court’s reliance on the journal entries was clearly appropriate; it goes without saying that a person’s private journal, written with no expectation of a judgmental audience, is especially likely to reflect an honest and forthright account of the author’s life and relationships. In her journal, Appellant chronicled her frustrations with Victim in detail; she repeatedly complained of his adultery and his

abandonment of the family. However, the circuit court noted that the journal contained no mention of physical abuse by Victim. The conspicuous omission of such claims, from a document where Appellant clearly had no qualms about criticizing Victim's conduct, casts considerable doubt on the credibility of Appellant's other statements accusing Victim of physical violence. The circuit court justifiably gave great weight to this evidence. Tellingly, despite the circuit court's prominent discussion of the journal's role in its analysis, Appellant's 28-page Brief to this Court does not mention the journal a single time.²

Appellant next complains that the circuit court improperly discounted testimony from multiple witnesses who observed bruises on Appellant's body. Appellant acknowledges that the only evidence concerning "the cause of these later injuries" was Appellant's own statements to the observers, in which she blamed Victim for inflicting them;³ nevertheless, because "the existence of the injuries was undisputed," Appellant appears to believe the circuit court was required to find the bruises were caused by Victim. (App.Br.p.22). This, of course, is a non-sequitur. The mere

² In her Brief, Appellant extensively discusses testimony from the trial and the evidentiary hearing portraying her as a victim of emotional or mental abuse. Many of Appellant's witnesses portrayed Victim as a "controlling" and "manipulative" person prone to gaslighting or humiliating Appellant. Appellant also presented testimony that her personality and mental health had deteriorated as a result of her traumatic relationship with Victim. Without diminishing the seriousness of psychological abuse in a relationship, it must be remembered that section 16-25-90 only applies where a court finds "credible evidence of a history of *criminal domestic violence*, as provided in section 16-25-20." (emphasis added). As Appellant acknowledged during the 2024 evidentiary hearing, "the statute . . . is only concerned if it crosses the line into physical abuse." (R. p.1204, lines 21–22). See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20(A) (prohibiting "*physical harm or injury*" against a household member) (emphasis added). While the circuit court acknowledged the evidence of non-physical abuse presented by Appellant, it properly based its analysis on whether Appellant had met her burden of proving "a history of criminal domestic violence," as opposed to other forms of abuse.

³ The fact that Appellant finds it necessary to argue that the bruises could be attributed to Victim for reasons unrelated to Appellant's own self-serving statements is a tacit admission that the circuit court was justified in discounting her credibility.

existence of injuries does not necessarily imply anything about who, or even what, caused them. And even if all of Appellant's injuries had been reliably attributed to Victim, that alone would not prove that Victim was always the aggressor. There was evidence showing that at least one of the incidents where Victim used physical force against Appellant was in the context of Victim *defending himself* from Appellant's assault. Specifically, Officer Jesse Moon testified that he responded to a domestic disturbance call where Appellant claimed Victim grabbed her arm and forced her to the ground; however, upon further investigation, Moon determined that Appellant was the primary aggressor and learned that Appellant had deliberately taken Victim's phone during the incident while Victim was trying to call 911. (R. pp.1168–72). Victim told Moon Appellant had threatened to kill him while brandishing a metal bar, and Moon found a 30-inch metal bar at the scene. (R. p.1170; pp.1174–75). Moon noted that Appellant “did not appear to be fearful at all” during the incident. (R. p.1169, lines 17–21).

Even assuming Appellant's witnesses were telling the truth about seeing bruises on Appellant's body, the mere existence of the bruises tells us nothing about who caused them or the context in which they occurred. The circuit court arguably *could* have inferred that Victim inflicted the bruises by physically abusing Appellant, but it certainly was not required to make that inference. “Contrary to appellant's argument, § 16-25-90 requires the defendant to do more . . . than simply present evidence; she must persuade the trial judge her evidence is reliable.” *State v. Grooms*, 343 S.C. 248, 253, 540 S.E.2d 99, 101 (2000).

But even if Appellant had been able to persuade the circuit court that Victim caused the bruises, and that they exclusively resulted from Victim's aggression rather than Appellant's own violent actions, this would only have been cumulative evidence establishing something the circuit court already acknowledged to be true: that Appellant suffered “scattered incidents” of physical

abuse at the hands of Victim over the course of their thirteen-year relationship. Nevertheless—in the proper exercise of its discretion—the court found such “scattered incidents” did not constitute a “history of criminal domestic violence” warranting early parole eligibility under the statute. The circuit court’s decision was well within its discretion, as *Hawes* makes clear.

Finally, Appellant argues the circuit court’s conclusion is “at odds with our Supreme Court’s acknowledgment of the recurring impact of domestic violence.” Appellant cites *Robinson v. State*, 308 S.C. 74, 77, 417 S.E.2d 88, 90 (1992) for the proposition that “[a] battered woman suffers from ‘learned helplessness’ as the ‘repeated batterings, like electrical shocks, diminish the woman’s motivation to respond.’” Appellant claims the circuit court erred under *Robinson* by “misinterpret[ing] the impact of past instances of violence,” which “are no less important [than] ‘contemporaneous’ events closer in time to the retaliatory event.” (App.Br.pp.22–23).

This argument appears to be based on Appellant’s belief that the circuit court’s ruling depended on discounting past incidents of abuse merely due to their age. As already explained, the circuit court never claimed to be doing so. The circuit court’s order acknowledged that there was evidence of several incidents where Victim was observed inflicting physical violence on Appellant, as well as incidents where witnesses observed bruises on Appellant’s body which, according to Appellant, were caused by Victim. Nowhere does the circuit court purport to disregard or diminish any of these incidents solely on the basis of their age.

Nevertheless, nothing in *Robinson* requires a court to weigh years-old incidents of abuse as equivalent to contemporaneous abuse when determining whether a defendant is entitled to early parole eligibility for murdering a household member. Doubtlessly, any prior incidents of physical violence—however far removed from the crime at issue—may be *relevant* to determining if a “history of criminal domestic violence” has been shown. But the *weight* of that evidence is a

matter for the finder of fact to determine. “In criminal cases, this Court sits to review errors of law only and is ‘bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.’” *Green*, 440 S.C. at 300, 890 S.E.2d at 765 (quoting *Wilson*, 345 S.C. at 5–6, 545 S.E.2d at 829); *see also State v. Douglas*, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 238 (Ct. App. 2014) (holding “the abuse of discretion standard of review does not allow this court to reweigh the evidence”).

The circuit court acknowledged the evidence of prior violence committed by Victim; however, it also properly considered other evidence that was inconsistent with Appellant’s “battered spouse” narrative. Specifically, the circuit court gave great weight to the fact that Appellant’s personal journals (which she started in 2006, more than four years before the shooting of Victim) were conspicuously silent as to any physical abuse by Victim. The circuit court was justified in concluding, based on this evidence, that Appellant was not trapped in a relationship “where torture appears interminable and escape impossible.” *Robinson*, 308 S.C. at 79, 417 S.E.2d at 91. There was plenty of other evidence to refute Appellant’s narrative: the fact that, on at least one occasion, she had been determined to be the primary aggressor in a domestic violence incident; the evidence that Appellant often followed Victim to work events and “made a big scene”; and the evidence that Appellant once threatened “if she could not have [Victim,] no one could.” Last but not least, the circumstances of the shooting itself bear no resemblance to the typical “battered spouse” killing. It was undisputed that Victim had moved *out* of Appellant’s home and was residing at another house at the time of the murder. Appellant voluntarily drove to Victim’s residence, armed herself, entered the residence, and killed him. Nothing about that series of events corresponds to the image of a battered woman who resorts to murder because she believes she “cannot escape her batterer.” *Id.* at 76, 417 S.E.2d at 90.

Finally, it must be noted that the *Robinson* case had nothing to do with the application of

section 16-25-90; the only issue in *Robinson* was whether Robinson’s counsel was ineffective for failing to present “battered woman” evidence in the context of a self-defense claim. Even on that limited issue, the *Robinson* court emphasized that its discussion was *obiter dictum*, not to be applied uncritically by the lower courts: “Our interpretation of the relationship between the battered woman's syndrome and self-defense is cursory, at best, and should not be construed as this Court's last word on the subject.” *Robinson*, 308 S.C. at 80, 417 S.E.2d at 92. In short, Appellant argues that the circuit court, as finder of fact, somehow committed an “error of law” by weighing the evidence with (in Appellant’s view) insufficient regard for non-binding dicta in a case that does not even purport to address the statute at issue. This argument is patently meritless.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the decision of the circuit court.